## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

منعترين والم

SHAWN GREENHALGH and JAMES PFAFF, App

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS et al., Respondents

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

LaDonna Jones, Attorney for Appellants WSBA #25427 520 East Denny Way Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 725-6940

Russell Odell, Attorney for Appellants WSBA #31287 251 – 153<sup>rd</sup> Place Southeast Bellevue, WA 98007 (425) 653-3693 COURT OF APPEALS

##

Assignments of Error					
		No. 1 1				
		No. 2	2			
	Issue	Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error				
			l			
			2 1			
B.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE2				
C.	ARGUMENT					
	1.	unde	The defendants violated Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's rights under RCW 72.02.045(3) because the WDOC did not store their previously authorized personal clothing until their			
		relea	se from custody9			
		a.	A plain language analysis of RCW 72.02.045(3) required the WDOC to store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's previously authorized personal clothing until their release from custody because the definitions of "custodian" and "custody" are unambiguous 9			
		b.	Judicial construction of RCW 72.02.045(3) required the WDOC to store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's previously authorized personal clothing until their release from custody because of the statute's history and WDOC's previous practice			
	2.	The court erred in dismissing Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's additional claims under WAC 137-36-060, RCW 9.92.110, Article I, §§ 3 and 15 of the Washington State Constitution the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983 because the lower court's ruling was based on an incorrect interpretation of RCW 72.02.045(3) and failed to include a discussion of these claims				
D.	CON	CONCLUSION				



E.	APPENDIX	A-1	
	RCW 63.42.010	A-2	
	Senate Bill Report, SB 4137	A-3	

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# **Washington State Court of Appeals Cases**

State v. Balzer,
91 Wn. App. 44, 954 P.2d 931 (1998)
State v. G.A.H.,
133 Wn. App. 567, 137 P.3d 66 (2006)
State v. Hahn,
83 Wn.App. 825, 924 P.2d 392 (1996)
Washington State Supreme Court Cases
Burton v. Lehman,
153 Wn.2d 416, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005) 9, 11, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 21
Chelan County v. Nykreim,
146 Wn.2d 904, 52 P.3d 709 (2002)
Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley,
118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)
HomeStreet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue,
166 Wn.2d 444, 210 P.3d 297 (2009)
<u>Rozner v. City of Bellevue,</u> 116 Wn.2d 342, 804 P.2d 24 (1991)
State v. Armendariz,
160 Wn.2d 106, 156 P.3d 201 (2007)
State v. Walcott,
72 Wn.2d 959, 435 P.2d 994 (1967)
Arizona State Court of Appeals Cases
Blum v. The State of Arizona,
171 Ariz. 201, 829 P.2d 1247 (Ct. App. 1992) 14, 15, 16, 17
Federal Cases
Jordan v. Lefevre,
206 F.3d 196 (2d Cir. 2000)
Searcy v. Simmons,
299 F.3d 1220 (10th Cir. 2002)
United States v. Alanis,
335 F.3d 965, n. 2 (9th Cir. 2003)

# **Constitutional Provisions**

Wash. Const. art. I, § 3					
Statutes					
RCW 63.42.010       ii, 19         RCW 72.02       11         RCW 72.02.025(3)       13         RCW 72.02.045       passim         RCW 72.02.045(1)       15         RCW 72.02.045(3)       passim         RCW 72.08.103(5)       12, 18         RCW 72.09.015       11         RCW 9.92.110       i, 1, 2, 21, 22         42 U.S.C. § 1983       passim         A.R.S. § 31-228(A)       17					
Rules					
CR 56					
Regulations					
WAC 137-36-040					
Other Authorities					
Black's Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009)					

## A. Assignments of Error

#### Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in entering the October 26, 2012 order, granting the defendants' motion for summary judgment.
- 2. The trial court erred in dismissing all of Shawn Greenhalgh's and James Pfaff's claims with prejudice.

## Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Does the January 1, 2010 DOC Policy 440.000, requiring
  Greenhalgh and Pfaff to either incur the shipping costs for their previously
  personal clothes to be mailed out to a non-incarcerated third party or lose
  ownership of this property through donation and/or destruction, violate the
  requirement in RCW 72.02.045(3) that the Washington State Department
  of Corrections (WDOC), as the custodian of inmate valuable personal
  property, store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's previously authorized personal
  clothing for delivery to them upon their release from custody?

  (Assignment of Error 1)
- Were Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's claims under WAC 137-36-060,
   RCW 9.92.110, Article I, §§ 3 and 15 of the Washington State
   Constitution, the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and 42

U.S.C. § 1983 improperly dismissed because they were not individually analyzed on the record by the lower court and because their dismissal was based solely on the lower court's finding that the January 1, 2010 DOC Policy 440.000 did not violate RCW 72.02.045(3)? (Assignment of Error 2)

#### B. Statement of the Case

#### 1. <u>Procedural History</u>

On June 25, 2012, Greenhalgh and Pfaff, prison inmates who are in the custody of the WDOC, filed a Class Action Complaint on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated against the WDOC, former WDOC Secretary Eldon Vail, and the State of Washington. CP 3. On July 3, 2012, Greenhalgh and Pfaff filed an Amended Class Action Complaint that included claims under 72.02.045(3), WAC 137-36-060, RCW 9.92.110, Article I, §§ 3 and 15 of the Washington State Constitution, and the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. CP 18.

On August 22, 2012, the defendants moved for partial summary judgment, under CR 56, on Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's claims under RCW 72.02.045(3), WAC 137-36-060, RCW 9.92.110, Fourteenth Amendment

of the U.S. Constitution, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. CP 90. Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's claims under Article I, §§ 3 and 15 of the State of Washington Constitution were not addressed in Defendants' memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 39-51. On September 14, 2012, Greenhalgh and Pfaff also moved for a continuance of the defendants' motion for summary judgment, to strike affirmative defenses, and to compel discovery and for sanctions. CP 91-100.

On September 28, 2012, the lower court heard partial oral argument on Greenhalgh and Pfaff's motion to continue the defendants' motion for summary judgment and the defendants' motion for summary judgment. RP 1-36. The lower court saw no benefit to hearing argument on Greenhalgh and Pfaff's motion to compel discovery before the hearing on motion for summary judgment. RP 13. The lower court stayed all pending discovery and ruled that the hearing would be continued for four weeks to give Greenhalgh and Pfaff an opportunity to file a supplemental brief to address their state constitutional claims and to give the defendants an opportunity to file a reply brief. RP 32. The hearing was reset for October 26, 2012. RP 36.

On October 26, 2012, after hearing oral argument, the lower court concluded that, despite the challenges presented to inmates, the WDOC

was not meant to be a "self-storage unit for inmates" and that "the department has fulfilled its responsibility under the statutory and constitutional law." RP 17-18. Based on these conclusions, the lower court determined that Greenhalgh and Pfaff's motion to compel discovery and sanctions was moot, denied Greenhalgh and Pfaff's motion to continue defendants' summary judgment motion, granted the defendants' summary judgment motion, and dismissed with prejudice all of Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's claims. RP 1-18, CP 350-51. Greenhalgh and Pfaff have filed this appeal requesting that the lower court's order granting the defendants' motion for summary judgment and dismissing Greenhalgh and Pfaff's claims be reversed and that their action be remanded.

#### 2. <u>Factual Background</u>

Prior to January 1, 2010, both inmate Greenhalgh and Pfaff had authorized personal clothing that they were allowed to own and possess under previous DOC 440.000 Policies. CP 320, 322. In late 2008, the WDOC decided to eliminate inmate possession of all owned personal clothing to cut laundry costs. CP 52-53, 55. In a January 20, 2009 memorandum, inmates were informed of this cost cutting measure that would eliminate their possession of personal clothing. CP 53, 55. On

March 1, 2009, WDOC amended DOC Policy 440.000. CP 56-65. The relevant portion of this policy provides as follows:

- II. Effective January 1, 2010, offenders will not be authorized to retain any personal clothing except shoes/sneakers/sandals, baseball hats, and plastic raincoats per Attachment 3.
  - A. Offenders may retain personal clothing listed on the Maximum Allowable Personal Property Matrix (Attachments 1 and 2) through December 31, 2009.

#### CP 57. This policy further provides:

### XI. Disposition Options

- A. Between July 1, 2009, and September 30, 2009, offenders can dispose of personal clothing (i.e., no more than 2 18" x 12" x 10" boxes, 15 pounds each) by shipping it, at the Department's expense, to a non-incarcerated person designated on DOC 21-139 Property Disposition.
- B. Through December 31, 2009, offenders may dispose of personal clothing via an approved visitor after a scheduled visit.
- C. Offenders will have 30 days to dispose of the property identified as excess or unauthorized.
  - 1. Offenders may dispose of their excess or unauthorized personal property, including personal clothing disposed of after September 30, 2009, by shipping it, at their own expense, to a non-incarcerated

- person designated by the offender on DOC 21-139 Property Disposition.
- 2. If the offender is without funds, refuses to pay the required postage or refuses to designate an individual to receive the property, such items will be:
  - a. Donated to a charitable organization per WAC 137-36-040, or
  - b. Destroyed by staff per DOC 420.375 Contraband and Evidence Handling.

CP 63-64, 66.

On March 29, 2009, Greenhalgh filed an Offender Complaint with the WDOC contending that "[f]irst, it is fundamentally unfair for DOC to first authorize me to purchase personal clothing under DOC 440.000 . . .; and, Second the revised version of DOC Policy 440.000 requiring me to send my personal clothing out of the Department or it will be considered abandoned and disposed of as contraband violates RCW 72.02.045 because this statute requires the Department to store my personal property and deliver it to me upon my release." CP 269. After his initial grievance was denied because the WDOC determined that the revised January 1, 2010 DOC Policy 440.000 did not violate RCW 72.02.045(3) and that RCW 72.02.045(3) only required storage of authorized property,

Greenhalgh appealed to the next levels. CP 269-75. All of his subsequent appeals were also denied. CP 269, 271, 273, 275.

On November 30, 2009, former WDOC Secretary Eldon Vail approved the revised January 1, 2010 DOC Policy 440.000. CP 253-27. In a letter dated April 30, 2010, after the revised January 1, 2010 DOC Policy 440.000 went into effect, Greenhalgh requested that Superintendent Scott Frakes of the Monroe Correctional Complex (MCC), pursuant to RCW 72.02.045(3), store his personal clothing until he either went to work release or he was released from total confinement. CP 328, 151. In a May 18, 2010 memorandum, Captain Ed Fritch of MCC informed Mr. Greenhalgh that "[e]ven until April 15, 2010, personal clothing confiscated in cell searches at MCC was not processed as contraband at the Superintendent's direction. . . . The Superintendent has indicated that he will follow policy and will not store your unauthorized personal clothing as your designated non-incarcerated person." CP 330. On August 12, 2010, after his grievances were denied and the superintendent declined to store his personal clothes, Greenhalgh submitted a Property Disposition to have his grey sweat shirt, blue sweat shirt, and fleece jacket mailed, at his expense, to the Margarts. CP 151, 153. On August 19, 2010, after storing Greenhalgh's personal clothes for eight months and

after Greenhalgh paying the mailing cost of \$10.52, WDOC mailed the aforementioned clothing to the Margarts. CP 151, 153.

In a January 11, 2011 letter from McNeil Island Corrections Center (MICC), after having stored Pfaff's personal clothes for more than a year, he was told that he had 30 days to send an institutional check or money order for \$15.00 to ship his personal clothes or they would be donated or destroyed per WDOC policy. CP 314. When Pfaff received this letter, his spendable account had a balance of \$0.64 and a balance of \$0.48 on February 11, 2011. CP 82. Pfaff's postage account had a balance of \$10.50 on December 23, 2012 and a balance of \$0.00 on February 17, 2011. CP 84. On February 2, 2011, Pfaff received \$35.00 from the Wiles. CP 85. This money was transferred to his spendable account on February 17, 2011 to pay UPS postage of \$36.86. CP 82, 85. Because Pfaff was indigent and did not have the requested \$15.00 in his spendable or postage accounts when the shipping costs were due to be paid, in a letter dated February 8, 2011, he directed the MICC Property Room to dispose of his personal clothing that, based on the March 2009 Maximum Allowable Personal Property Matrix Men's Facilities, had a value of \$255.00. CP 74, 322, 324.

## C. Argument

1. THE DEFENDANTS VIOLATED GREENHALGH'S AND PFAFF'S RIGHTS UNDER RCW 72.02.045(3) BECAUSE THE WDOC DID NOT STORE THEIR PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED PERSONAL CLOTHING UNTIL THEIR RELEASE FROM CUSTODY.

The lower court erred in granting the defendants' motion for summary judgment because the WDOC's custodial duties under RCW 72.02.045(3) required them to store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's personal clothing until their release from custody. For purposes of this appeal, this Court stands in the same position as the trial court and must review de novo the trial court's summary judgment order, viewing all material facts in the light most favorable to Greenhalgh and Pfaff. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 811, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

Statutory interpretation is also a question of law that is reviewed de novo. Burton v. Lehman, 153 Wn.2d 416, 422, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005).

a. A plain language analysis of RCW 72.02.045(3) required the WDOC to store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's previously authorized personal clothing until their release from custody because the definitions of "custodian" and "custody" are unambiguous.

The responsibilities of a "custodian" include the duty to preserve or store property for future use. As the "custodian" of inmate personal property, under RCW 72.02.045(3), WDOC was required to store all of

the personal clothes that Greenhalgh and Pfaff owned and were authorized prior to January 1, 2010. RCW 72.02.045, which was first enacted in 1988, states in relevant part:

The superintendent shall be the custodian of all funds and valuable personal property of convicted persons as may be in their possession upon admission to the institution, or which may be sent or brought in to such persons, or earned by them while in custody, or which shall be forwarded to the superintendent on behalf of convicted persons. . . . When convicted persons are released from the custody of the department either on parole, community placement, community custody, community supervision, or discharge, all funds and valuable personal property in the possession of the superintendent belonging to such convicted persons shall be delivered to them.

RCW 72.02.045(3) (emphasis added). CP 181.

The primary objective of statutory construction is "to ascertain and carry out the intent of the Legislature." HomeStreet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451, 210 P.3d 297 (2009) (quoting Rozner v. City of Bellevue, 116 Wn.2d 342, 347, 804 P.2d 24 (1991)). When interpreting a statute, a court must first look to its plain language. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 110, 156 P.3d 201 (2007). If the plain language is subject to only one interpretation, the court's inquiry ends because plain language does not require construction. Id. "Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, a court will not construe the statute but will glean the legislative intent from the words of the statute

Burton, 153 Wn.2d at 422. Absent ambiguity or a statutory definition, words in a statute should be given their "usual and ordinary meaning and courts may not read into a statute a meaning that is not there." <u>Id.</u> at 422-23 (quoting <u>State v. Hahn</u>, 83 Wn.App. 825, 832, 924 P.2d 392 (1996)). This Court may look to a dictionary to establish the meaning of a word if the undefined statutory word is not technical. <u>Id.</u> at 423.

In <u>Burton</u>, the Supreme Court concluded that all that was necessary was a plain language analysis of two undefined terms, "transfer" and "deliver," in the former version of RCW 72.02.045(3). <u>Id.</u> at 423. As did the Supreme Court in <u>Burton</u>, this Court should also use a plain language analysis to ascertain the meaning of the term "custodian." Like the terms "transfer" and "deliver" in <u>Burton</u>, the term "custodian" is not defined in chapter RCW 72.02, the legislative history of 72.02.045, RCW 72.09.015, or the 1965 predecessor statute to RCW 72.02.045(3) and its legislative history, which states in relevant part:

The superintendent shall be custodian of all funds and valuable personal property of a convicted person as shall be in his possession upon admission to the state penitentiary, or which shall be sent or brought to such person, or earned by him while in custody, or which shall be forwarded to the superintendent on behalf of a convicted person. . . . When a convicted person is released

from the confines of the state penitentiary either on parole or discharge, all funds and valuable personal property in the possession of the superintendent belonging to such convicted person shall be delivered to him.

RCW 72.08.103(5) (emphasis added). CP 187-89, 191-98, 200-08, 210-12.

Black's Law Dictionary defines "custodian" as "[a] person or institution that has charge or **custody** (of a child, **property**, papers, or other valuables)." Black's Law Dictionary (9<sup>th</sup> ed. 2009) (emphasis added). "Custody" is defined as "[t]he care and control of a thing or person for inspection, preservation, or security." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). "Store is defined as "[a] place where goods or supplies are stored for **future use.**" Id. (emphasis added). The dictionary defines "custodian" as "one that protects and **maintains**; ...." Merriam-Webster's Dictionary and Thesaurus (17th ed. 2012) (emphasis added). CP 214. A synonym for maintain is preserve. Id. (emphasis added). CP 215. Merriam-Webster's Dictionary and Thesaurus's definition of "store" is "to place or leave in a safe location for preservation or future use." <u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). CP 216. Applying the aforementioned definitions of "custodian" and "custody," WDOC clearly was required under RCW 72.02.045(3) to preserve or store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's previously approved personal clothing until their release from WDOC custody so that they would not

have to choose between having to pay shipping costs or lose their ownership, which is a requirement the Supreme Court in <u>Burton</u> held the WDOC could not impose. <u>Burton</u>, 153 Wn.2d at 426.

Moreover, there are other phrases in RCW 72.02.045(3) that indicate that, as the "custodian," WDOC was required to preserve or store Greenhalgh's and Pfaff's previously approved personal clothing. Pursuant to this statute, valuable personal property that a convicted person has upon their admission to the [WDOC] institution, was sent or brought in to the convicted person, was earned by the convicted person while in custody, or was on behalf of the convicted person forwarded to the superintendent shall be delivered to them upon discharge from the custody of WDOC. RCW 72.02.045(3) (emphasis added). CP 181. This mandatory delivery of approved valuable personal property, that an inmate has with him when he/she is admitted into the WDOC institution and/or obtains during incarceration, cannot occur, as required by RCW 72.02.025(3), unless the property is preserved or stored by WDOC.

The facts in this case are similar to the facts in <u>Blum v. The State</u> of Arizona, 829 P.2d 1247, 1248, 171 Ariz. 201, 202 (1992), a case in which the Arizona Department of Corrections (ADOC) adopted a policy that set forth the types and quantities of personal items inmates were

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