### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAWN GREENHALGH and JAMES PFAFF,

Appellants,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, et al.,

Respondents.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

DOUGLAS W. CARR Assistant Attorney General WSBA #17378 Corrections Division PO BOX 40116 Olympia, WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445

#

II.	RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	Procedural History	1		
	В.	Factual Background	2		
III.	ARGUMENT				
	A.	Standard Of Review	5		
	В.	RCW 72.02.045(3) Does Not Require DOC To Store Inmates' Contraband Property Until They Are Released From Custody	5		
	C.	Respondents Did Not Proximately Cause Appellants' Damages	17		
	D.	The Trial Court Correctly Dismissed Appellants' Remaining Claims On Their Merits	20		
IV.	СО	NCLUSION	22		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases

Alpine Lakes v. Natural Resources, 102 Wn. App. 1, 979 P.2d 929 (1999)
Anderson v. Weslo, İnc., 79 Wn. App. 829, 906 P.2d 336 (1995)
Ayers v. Johnson & Johnson Baby Prods. Co., 117 Wn.2d 747, 818 P.2d 1337 (1991)17, 20
Bellevue Fire Fighters Local 1604 v. Bellevue, 100 Wn.2d 748, 675 P.2d 592 (1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1015 (1985)5
Blum v. State of Arizona, 171 Ariz. 201, 829 P.2d 1247 (1992)16, 17
Burton v. Lehman, 153 Wn.2d 416, 103 P.3d 1230 (2005)14, 15
City of Seattle v. State, 136 Wn.2d 693, 965 P.2d 619 (1998)6
Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 958 P.2d 301 (1998)21
Graves v. Employment Sec. Dep't, 144 Wn. App. 302, 182 P.3d 1004 (2008)22
Skimming v. Boxer, 119 Wn. App. 748, 82 P.3d 707 (2004)22
<u>Statutes</u>
Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 31-228
RCW 63 42 020(3)

RCW 72.01.0507							
RCW 72.01.050(2)7							
RCW 72.02.0457							
RCW 72.02.045(3)							
RCW 72.09.015(5)							
RCW 72.09.4506							
RCW 72.11.0206							
Other Authorities							
Websters II New Riverside University Dictionary 340 (1988) 8							
Rules							
CR 52(a)(5)(B)							
Regulations							
WAC 137-36-020(1)							
WAC 137-36-030(4)							
WAC 137-36-040							
WAC 137-36-040(1)(a)							
WAC 137-36-060							
WAC 137-48-020(1)11							

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Appellants in this case are two Washington State inmates who filed a class action seeking damages from the State of Washington for: (1) the value of personal property Appellants directed DOC to dispose of after Appellants chose to not take advantage of DOC's offer to mail the property out at DOC expense to persons of Appellants' choosing, and (2) the costs Appellants paid to mail out personal property that DOC had previously offered to mail out at DOC expense. Appellants assert a number of constitutional, statutory, and regulation violations. The trial court dismissed Appellants' action, concluding that there were no genuine issues of material fact and that Appellants' claims failed as a matter of law. Appellants now appeal the trial court's dismissal with prejudice of their action.

#### II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

Respondents agree with Appellants' statement of the procedural history of this case with the exception of Appellants' assertion that Respondents moved for partial summary judgment on August 22, 2012. Respondents did not move for partial summary judgment but instead moved for summary judgment on all Appellants' claims and requested that Appellants' entire "action be dismissed with prejudice." CP 50.

#### B. Factual Background

In late 2008, DOC was faced with severe budget problems and was forced to look for ways to reduce its costs. CP 53, Declaration of Dan Pacholke. One of the ways it considered to reduce costs was to eliminate inmates from possessing most personal clothing items. CP 53. DOC estimated that it would save over \$100,000.00 per year by eliminating most inmate personal clothing, savings that would occur due to a decrease in electricity and other costs to wash clothing, and reductions in staff time to handle, process, and document inmates' personal clothing items. CP 53-54.

Inmates were given nearly a year's notice of DOC's plan to eliminate most personal clothing items. CP 54. Inmates were given notice on January 20, 2009, that DOC would be eliminating most personal clothing items beginning on January 1, 2010. CP 54. Inmates were also advised at this time that beginning March 1, 2009, inmates would no longer be authorized to receive personal clothing items from any source. CP 54.

DOC amended its inmate property policy, DOC 440.000, on March 1, 2009, to further notify inmates of the impending changes concerning personal clothing items and to advise them of the various options DOC would make available to them to dispose of their personal clothing items.

CP 54. These options included DOC paying the cost of sending out two boxes of personal clothing between July 1, 2009, and September 30, 2009, inmates sending out their personal clothing at their own expense after September 30, 2009, and DOC allowing approved visitors to pick up inmates' personal clothing until January 1, 2010. CP 54. Inmates were also advised in this policy that beginning January 1, 2010, they would have 30 days to dispose of clothing items identified as excess or unauthorized, and that if an inmate failed to pay the costs of sending out non-allowable property, the property could be donated to a charity or thrown away pursuant to WAC 137-36-040. CP 54.

Inmates Greenhalgh, DOC #701558, and Pfaff, DOC #278724, had personal clothing items after December 31, 2009, that were no longer allowable and were therefore contraband. CP 77 and 151. Inmate Pfaff was notified that he needed to arrange to have the contraband clothing items sent out and inmate Pfaff sent a letter to the MICC property room directing the MICC employees who worked there to dispose of his clothing because he was "without funds to have it sent here." CP 77. Inmate Pfaff's clothing items were apparently disposed of pursuant to his directions to MICC property room staff.

Although inmate Pfaff claimed in his February 8, 2011, letter to the MICC property room that he did not have sufficient funds to mail his

personal clothing out of MICC, his DOC inmate account records show that he had sufficient funds in his account during 2010 and 2011 to send his clothing out. CP 81-87. Appellant Pfaff also had \$35.00 in his postage subaccount from February 1, 2011, to February 17, 2011, which Pfaff could have used to pay the \$15.00 DOC estimated it would cost to ship Pfaff's contraband clothing out of the institution. CP 88. On February 17, 2011, inmate Pfaff paid UPS postage of \$36.86 to ship a different package out of a DOC institution. CP 85.

In response to being advised that he needed to send his contraband clothing items out of prison, inmate Greenhalgh directed MICC property room staff to send his clothing items to Scott Frakes, the Superintendent of the Monroe Correctional Complex (MCC), which is the DOC institution inmate Greenhalgh had been transferred to. CP 151. Inmate Greenhalgh chose to send some of his clothing items out of MCC and apparently chose to have his remaining clothing items disposed of by MCC. CP 151, 153.

Although inmate Greenhalgh claimed that he did not have any non-incarcerated person to send his personal clothing to, he sent personal clothing items and other personal property to his sister, Nicole Dickmann, in 2005, 2006, 2007, and 2008. CP 55.

#### III. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard Of Review

Respondents accept Appellants' statement of the standard of review for this appeal.

# B. RCW 72.02.045(3) Does Not Require DOC To Store Inmates' Contraband Property Until They Are Released From Custody

Appellants' primary argument on appeal is that RCW 72.02.045(3) required DOC superintendents to store inmates' contraband clothing items until their release from DOC custody. Appellants' statutory claim was properly rejected by the trial court.<sup>1</sup>

The fundamental objective of statutory construction is to ascertain and carry out the intent of the Legislature. *Bellevue Fire Fighters Local* 1604 v. *Bellevue*, 100 Wn.2d 748, 751, 675 P.2d 592 (1984), *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1015 (1985). However, where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, the statute's meaning must be derived from the wording of the statute itself. *Bellevue Fire Fighters*, 100 Wn.2d at 750.

In interpreting statutes, courts accord substantial weight to an agency's view of the law that it administers. *Alpine Lakes v. Natural Resources*, 102 Wn. App. 1, 14, 979 P.2d 929 (1999). An agency's interpretation of a statute should be upheld if it reflects a plausible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Appellants do not argue that there is any genuine issue of material fact that precludes the grant of summary judgment in this case.

construction of the language of the statute and is not contrary to legislative intent. *Id.* Finally, statutory interpretations that produce unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences should be avoided. *City of Seattle v. State*, 136 Wn.2d 693, 697, 965 P.2d 619 (1998).

RCW 72.02.045 grants prison superintendents broad authority to manage prisons, including broad authority to manage inmates' property. Under this statute superintendents are the custodians of inmates' property and funds. RCW 72.02.045(3). Superintendents have the "authority to determine the types and amounts of property that convicted persons may possess in department facilities." Superintendents may also "determine the types and amounts that the department will transport at the departments' expense" when inmates are transferred between department institutions or to other jurisdictions. Id. Superintendents may dispose of or discard inmate property that inmates have not paid to ship after the inmates have been transferred. *Id.* Superintendents have the authority to disburse funds from inmates' accounts for the "needs of the convicted person as may be deemed reasonably necessary." Id. Finally, DOC has the authority to pay inmates' legal financial obligations and to collect debt owed to DOC from inmates' accounts. RCW 72.11.020 (legal financial obligations); RCW 72.09.450 (DOC debt).

The authority granted in RCW 72.02.045 must be viewed in the light of RCW 72.01.050 which states in relevant part:

The secretary of corrections shall have full power to manage, govern, and name all state correctional facilities, subject only to limitations contained in law relating to the management of such institutions.

RCW 72.01.050(2).

The extraordinarily broad grant of authority in RCW 72.01.050(2) means that unless the legislature has explicitly required DOC to store inmates' contraband property or expressly prohibited DOC from requiring inmates to send out or have someone pick up their contraband property, then DOC may lawfully act as it did in this case. It is apparent that the legislature has not expressly or implicitly limited DOC's authority to manage inmate contraband property. Because DOC's interpretation of its statutory authority to manage prison contraband is reasonable and not contrary to legislative intent, DOC's interpretation should be upheld. *Alpine Lakes, supra*.

To support their statutory argument, Appellants rely exclusively on the following two sentences in RCW 72.02.045(3):

The superintendent shall be the custodian of all funds and valuable personal property of convicted persons as may be in their possession upon admission to the institution, or which may be sent or brought in to such persons, or earned by them while in custody, or which shall be forwarded to the superintendent on behalf of convicted persons. . . . When convicted persons are released from the custody of the department either on parole, community placement, community custody, community supervision, or discharge, all funds and valuable personal property in the possession of the superintendent belonging to such convicted persons shall be delivered to them.

Appellants rely on the dictionary definition of "custodian" and read into this definition a requirement that DOC superintendents must store inmates' contraband property until they are released from DOC custody. Neither the dictionary definition nor the statute say this or require this. The definition of a "custodian" is "one in charge of something: caretaker." Websters II New Riverside University Dictionary 340 (1988). The definition of custodian does not suggest that a custodian has any obligation to store property for any particular period of time but does indicate that the custodian has authority over the property. DOC superintendents properly exercised their authority over Appellants' contraband property by making such property fully available to Appellants to deal with at their choice, first at no expense to Appellants, then later at Appellants' own expense. The statute does not constrain prison superintendents' long-standing and broad powers which include the authority to require inmates to dispose of contraband property.

Appellants read far too much into the statutory provision requiring superintendents to deliver inmates' property to them when they are released from DOC custody. This provision only requires prison superintendents to deliver inmate property the superintendents possess at the time an inmate is released from custody; this provision does not require superintendents to store contraband property inmates have been ordered to send out. That the legislature did not intend for DOC to be a storage facility for inmate property is amply demonstrated in other portions of this statute:

If a convicted person fails to pay the costs of transporting any excess property within ninety days from the date of transfer, such property shall be presumed abandoned and may be disposed of in the manner allowed by RCW 63.72.040(1) through (3).

RCW 72.02.045(3).

If a superintendent may lawfully dispose of allowed property an inmate fails to ship after being transferred, the superintendent may clearly dispose of contraband property that an inmate fails to send out after having received instructions to do so.

Appellants' concession that DOC is not required to store contraband items they bring with them to prison or which are sent to them in prison is fatal to their statutory argument:

Neither are they (Appellants) making the case that RCW 72.02.045(3) would require WDOC to store or preserve all property they receive while incarcerated. . . . DOC Policy 440.000 would limit the inmate personal property that WDOC would be required to store or preserve. This policy restricts unauthorized or contraband personal property from newly incarcerated inmates who enter WDOC facilities and that is received by inmates from facility offender stores, approved vendors, monthly/quarterly packages, education or religious programs, and/or hobby craft items made by the inmate.

See Appellants' Brief, at 16.

Appellants' concession that DOC is not required to store or maintain contraband items brought into prison by an inmate or sent in to an inmate directly refutes their argument that RCW 72.02.045(3) requires DOC to store all property brought into prison by an inmate or sent into an inmate in prison until the inmate's release from custody. Appellants apparently make this concession to avoid the obviously absurd result that would follow if RCW 72.02.045(3) were interpreted to require DOC to store all contraband property brought into DOC by an inmate and all contraband property sent to an inmate until the inmate was released from DOC custody.

Appellants attempt to avoid the consequences of their concession by arguing that the contraband property at issue in this case is somehow different from other contraband because it was previously

allowed by DOC. However, Appellants point to nothing in RCW 72.02.045(3) or any other statute to support this argument.

Appellants' argument that previously allowed contraband must be treated differently from other contraband and must be stored by DOC until the inmate is released from DOC custody is incorrect as a matter of law. The law recognizes only two classes of inmate property; contraband items and non-contraband items.

As a matter of law, Appellants' personal clothing items became contraband on January 1, 2010:

"Contraband" means any object or communication the secretary determines shall not be allowed to be: (a) brought into; (b) possessed while on the grounds of; or (c) sent from any institution under the control of the secretary.

RCW 72.09.015(5).

RCW 63.42.020(3) also defines contraband:

"Contraband" means all personal property including, but not limited to, alcoholic beverages and other items which a resident of a correctional institution may not have in the resident's possession, as defined in rules adopted by the secretary.

Long standing DOC regulations likewise define contraband as any item an inmate may not have in his/her possession. WAC 137-36-020(1); WAC 137-48-020(1). Under DOC's regulations, even property of a type

that inmates may lawfully possess is contraband if possessed in quantities not allowed:

All authorized items in excess or in noncompliance with the levels established by the superintendent of each institution shall be considered contraband and shall be disposed of as such in WAC 137-36-040.

WAC 137-36-030(4). When DOC lawfully prohibited inmates from possessing personal clothing after December 31, 2009, such clothing became contraband as a matter of law and was properly processed and disposed of as contraband by DOC under WAC 137-36-040 and DOC Policy 440.000.

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